# Central Valley Landscape Conservation Project Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment (January 2017 version) Permanent Wetlands

## **Vulnerability Assessment Summary**

Overall Vulnerability Score and Components:

<b>Vulnerability Component</b>	Score
Sensitivity	Moderate-high
Exposure	Moderate-high
Adaptive Capacity	Low-moderate
Vulnerability	Moderate

Overall vulnerability of the permanent wetland habitat was scored as moderate. The score is the result of moderate-high sensitivity, moderate-high future exposure, and low-moderate adaptive capacity scores.

Key climate factors considered for permanent wetland habitats include snowpack and precipitation amount. Changes in these climatic factors have significant effects on wetland hydrology, primarily by affecting water availability.

Key disturbance regimes for permanent wetland habitats include flooding, wind, and wildfire. Natural scouring from flooding and high peak flows can benefit permanent wetlands by resetting succession and allowing early successional plants to establish; however, changes to the magnitude and duration of flooding events can prevent this important process. Wind has a minor impact on permanent wetlands, although major windstorms can affect wetland soil, root growth, and vegetation survival over the long term. Wildfire has been suppressed in the Central Valley and now is usually applied by managers via prescribed burning to reset succession.

Key non-climate factors for permanent wetland habitats include land use change, invasive and problematic species, nutrient loading, pollution and poisons, and waterfowl hunting. These non-climate factors will likely interact with climate factors and disturbances and potentially result in habitat loss, degradation, or changes in management practices that alter habitat quality.

Land use change and agricultural/rangeland practices represent barriers for wetland species movement and lead to hydrological changes, which can negatively impact wetland biota. Permanent wetland habitats exhibit moderate diversity, but most have limited physical and

## Central Valley Landscape Conservation Project Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Permanent Wetlands

topographical diversity. There is a growing desire to restore Central Valley wetlands in light of climate change.

Management potential for Permanent Wetlands was scored as moderate. Permanent wetlands have a significant capacity to adapt to climate change because they are highly managed, used for agricultural production, and their water levels can be controlled to achieve particular management goals. Specific management activities may include retaining water, especially during winter migrations, and actively managing vegetation by planting, burning, mowing, or disking, which also has the potential to attract waterbirds for hunting. However, population growth, Endangered Species Act listings, and instream flow requirements may affect the wetland management capacity.

## Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Permanent Wetlands

## **Table of Contents**

Introduction	5
Description of Priority Natural Resource	5
Vulnerability Assessment Methodology	5
Vulnerability Assessment Details	6
Climate Factors	6
Snowpack amount	6
Precipitation (amount)	7
Drought	7
Timing of snowmelt & runoff	8
Climatic changes that may benefit the habitat:	8
Non-Climate Factors	9
Land use change	9
Invasive & other problematic species	10
Nutrient loading	10
Hunting	10
Pollution & poisons	11
Groundwater overdraft	11
Disturbance Regimes	12
Flooding	12
Wildfire	13
Wind	13
Adaptive Capacity	14
Extent, integrity, and continuity	14
Landscape permeability	14
Resistance and recovery	15
Habitat diversity	15
Other Factors	16
Management potential	17
Value to people	17
Support for conservation	17

## Central Valley Landscape Conservation Project Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Permanent Wetlands

Likelihood of converting land to habitat	18
Literature Cited	20

## Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Permanent Wetlands

## Introduction

## **Description of Priority Natural Resource**

Permanent wetlands have standing surface water year-round, and include both managed and unmanaged wetlands. They are too wet for most terrestrial vegetation and tend to undergo wet and dry cycles due to fluctuating water levels (CA Natural Resources Agency 2010). Presently, more than 90% of wetlands in the Central Valley are managed, two-thirds of which are in private ownership (Central Valley Joint Venture 2006). Currently, there are 26,322 acres of permanent and semi-permanent wetlands in the Central Valley, but wetlands remain in only a fraction of their former landscape extent.

As part of the Central Valley Landscape Conservation Project, workshop participants identified the permanent wetland habitat as a Priority Natural Resource for the Central Valley Landscape Conservation Project in a process that involved two steps: 1) gathering information about the habitat's management importance as indicated by its priority in existing conservation plans and lists, and 2) a workshop with stakeholders to identify the final list of Priority Natural Resources, which includes habitats, species groups, and species.

The rationale for choosing the permanent wetland habitat as a Priority Natural Resource included the following: the habitat has high management importance, and because the habitat provides important ecosystem services such as critical habitat for many species, flood protection, and water quality abatement (Duffy & Kahara 2011). Please see Appendix A: "Priority Natural Resource Selection Methodology" for more information.

## **Vulnerability Assessment Methodology**

During a two-day workshop in October of 2015, 30 experts representing 16 Central Valley resource management organizations assessed the vulnerability of priority natural resources to changes in climate and non-climate factors, and identified the likely resulting pressures, stresses, and benefits (see Appendix B: "Glossary" for terms used in this report). The expert opinions provided by these participants are referenced throughout this document with an endnote indicating its source<sup>1</sup>. To the extent possible, scientific literature was sought out to support expert opinion garnered at the workshop. Literature searches were conducted for factors and resulting pressures that were rated as high or moderate-high, and all pressures, stresses, and benefits identified in the workshop are included in this report. For more information about the vulnerability assessment methodology, please see Appendix C: "Vulnerability Assessment Methods and Application." Projections of climate and non-climate change for the region were researched and are summarized in Appendix D: "Overview of Projected Future Changes in the California Central Valley".

## Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Permanent Wetlands

## **Vulnerability Assessment Details**

#### **Climate Factors**

Workshop participants scored the resource's sensitivity to climate factors and used to calculate overall sensitivity. Future exposure to climate factors was scored and the overall exposure score used to calculate climate change vulnerability.

Climate Factor	Sensitivity	Future Exposure
Extreme events: drought	Moderate	Moderate
Precipitation (amount)	Moderate-high	-
Snowpack amount	High	High
Timing of snowmelt/runoff	-	Moderate-high
Overall Scores	Moderate-high	Moderate-high

**Potential refugia:** Sacramento Valley will be most likely to retain permanent wetlands, as will the reservoirs/farm ponds in the Coast Range and Sierra foothills. San Francisco Bay and coastal marshes (Suisun Marsh) will also have water and new tidal wetlands may be created in the delta and baylands and will serve as refugia for lost freshwater permanent wetlands. However, benefits of these new habitats vary by species group and season (breeding vs. wintering), and they are unlikely to help the giant garter snake (Thamnophis gigas).

## **Snowpack amount**

**Sensitivity:** High (high confidence) **Future exposure:** High (high confidence)

Warmer temperatures have already resulted in reduced snowpack, greater proportions of rainfall compared to snowfall, increased rain-on-snow events, and earlier snowmelt in many areas of the western U.S., with the biggest changes observed in rivers with low-elevation headwaters (Regonda et al. 2005; McCabe & Clark 2005).

Wetlands exhibit sensitivity to changes in snowpack at higher elevations, as a decline in snowpack can lead to decreased late spring and summer flows (Perry et al. 2012) and less available water during the dry summer months (Yarnell et al. 2010). Snowpack from mountainous areas surrounding the Central Valley plays a large part in water storage and supply, which includes irrigation for permanent wetlands (Knowles & Cayan 2002; Scanlon et al.

## Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Permanent Wetlands

2012). Earlier snowmelt and spring peak flows may result in in lower diversity and abundance in the riparian vegetative community, and could have cascading impacts to the adjacent terrestrial ecosystem (Nakano et al. 1999). Changes in snowpack and snowmelt timing that lead to altered hydrologic regimes such as lower minimum flows and increased intermittency could facilitate the spread of exotic species, such as tamarisk (*Tamarix* spp.) or other non-native species that are more drought tolerant (Stromberg et al. 2010).

#### **Precipitation (amount)**

**Sensitivity:** Moderate-high (high confidence)

Models indicate a wide range of potential future changes in precipitation for California and the Central Valley. The direction of change is uncertain, with some models projecting more overall average rainfall and others projecting less rainfall, however, by the mid and late century, most models project drier conditions than the historical annual average (Cayan 2012).

In addition to potential changes in average rainfall, models project changes in precipitation patterns, such as increased variability (Hunsaker et al. 2014) and an increase in frequency of intense storms and shifts in seasonality (Dettinger 2011).

Changes in the frequency, abundance, and nature of precipitation events affects regional hydrology and the persistence and functioning of wetlands (Meyers et al. 2010; Null et al. 2013). For example, decreased total precipitation and increased variability in precipitation can affect water availability and the ability to manage wetlands (especially restored wetlands) in the Central Valley (Kahara et al. 2012). Precipitation changes can also influence a wetland's hydroperiod (i.e., the timing and duration of flooding), which can subsequently affect wetland functions and services (CA Natural Resources Agency 2010). For example, freshwater marshes in the Sacramento Basin were historically fed by winter precipitation and resulting floods, while marshes in the San Joaquin Basin were fed by snowmelt runoff, resulting in distinct differences in flood timing (Duffy & Kahara 2011).

The southern portion of the Central Valley is more sensitive to precipitation and water availability changes due to its drier climate, although water from snowmelt and rainfall can help buffer water shortages during the winter and spring (Kahara et al. 2012). Prolonged warming temperatures and a longer dry season could shift some permanent wetlands to seasonal wetlands, allowing more xeric plants to encroach some wetlands thus changing their composition (Bartolome et al. 2014). Substantial water shortages could also result in earlier drawdown and/or reduced irrigation, which could have similar impacts (Eheart & Tornil 1999). Drier conditions can also decrease the availability of food for some wetland species, such as waterbirds and shorebirds (Naylor 2002; Moss et al. 2009).

#### Drought

**Sensitivity:** Moderate (high confidence)

**Future exposure:** Moderate (moderate confidence)

## Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Permanent Wetlands

Longer or more severe droughts are likely to impact water availability and thus habitat extent, although the effects may be reduced or delayed in the Sacramento Valley where water resources are not as scarce (Medellín-Azuara et al. 2007; Reiter et al. 2015). Substantial drying during the summer months affects hydrologic regimes, with impacts to wetland vegetation composition, structure, extent, and functioning (Poff & Zimmerman 2010). During drought years, soil moisture must be recharged before runoff occurs<sup>1</sup>.

Managed wetlands are less sensitive to drought than to other factors because stored water may help compensate for decreased water availability<sup>1</sup>. Reductions in permanent wetland acreage due to water availability are well documented (e.g., Reiter et al. 2015), and drought will undoubtedly affect the distribution and presence of wetlands in the future (Thorne et al. 2016).

## Timing of snowmelt & runoff

**Future exposure:** Moderate-high (high confidence)

In the Sacramento and San Joaquin basins, April-July runoff volume has decreased over the last 100 years by 23% and 19% respectively, reflecting earlier timing of peak flows (Anderson et al. 2008).

An earlier and potentially shorter spring recession due to less snowpack can limit the extent of suitable habitat and recruitment success for some plant species, as adequate flow conditions occur less often during the timing of seed dispersal (Rood et al. 2005; Stella et al. 2006).

## Climatic changes that may benefit the habitat:

 Any of the above factors could benefit permanent wetlands if they shift in the right direction (e.g. increase in precipitation and snowpack, decrease in drought)

Total annual water year runoff has been increasing for the Sacramento River basins and decreasing for the San Joaquin River basins, trends that are projected to continue at least through 2050 (Hunsaker et al. 2014).

## Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Permanent Wetlands

#### **Non-Climate Factors**

Workshop participants scored the resource's sensitivity and current exposure to non-climate factors, and these scores were then used to assess their impact on climate change sensitivity. Overall impact of non-climate factors: Low-moderate (high confidence).

Non-Climate Factor	Sensitivity	<b>Current Exposure</b>
Groundwater overdraft	Low-moderate	Low-moderate
Invasive & other problematic species	Moderate-high	Moderate-high
Land use change	Moderate-high	Moderate-high
Nutrient loading	Moderate-high	Moderate-high
Other factors	Moderate	Moderate-high
Pollution & poisons	Low-moderate	Moderate-high
Overall Scores	Moderate	Moderate-high

#### Land use change

Sensitivity: Moderate-high (high confidence)
Current exposure: Moderate-high (high confidence)
Pattern of exposure: Consistent across the landscape.

Wetlands are particularly sensitive to changes in land use. Because wetlands are generally found on flat, fertile substrates, such as floodplain and valley floors, they were prime locations for historical wetland conversion (Frayer et al. 1989). More than 95% of wetlands have been lost through conversion to urban development or agriculture in the Central Valley (Gilmer et al. 1982). Population growth and the continued water demand for agriculture and development exacerbate these losses (Duffy & Kahara 2011), and future water demand is expected to increase with expanding urban populations (Medellín-Azuara et al. 2007), placing additional stress on existing water supplies (Kahara et al. 2012).

Currently, more than 90% of wetlands in the Central Valley are managed and two-thirds of those are in private ownership (Central Valley Joint Venture 2006). Managed wetlands are substantially impacted by upstream impoundments, diversions, and added surface water, which affect wetland hydroperiod (CA Natural Resources Agency 2010). Levees, riverbank revetments, spring boxes, dams, and other manmade structures can also affect wetlands (CA Natural Resources Agency 2010). Although some wetlands still flood naturally, most now rely on managed water supplies for seasonal flooding. These water sources, typically captured in dams and delivered by canal or through stream channels, are in high demand as they provide water for everything from agriculture and urban use to management of wetlands and instream flows for fish (CA Natural Resources Agency 2010). Demand for this water increases every year, as does the cost, and many wetland managers now rely on irrigation drain water, wastewater

## Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Permanent Wetlands

discharges, low priority water contracts, non-binding agreements with water districts, and groundwater pumping (CA Natural Resources Agency 2010).

## **Invasive & other problematic species**

Sensitivity: Moderate-high (high confidence)
Current exposure: Moderate-high (high confidence)
Pattern of exposure: Consistent across the landscape.

Permanent wetlands are sensitive to invasive species that compete with or prey upon native species, ultimately displacing them and altering wetland function and services. Examples of invasive wetland species include bullfrogs (*Lithobates catesbeianus*), the Louisiana red crayfish (*Procambarus clarkia*), Brazilian milfoil (*Myriophyllum aquaticum*), invasive cordgrass (*Spartina alterniflora*), and bluegill (*Lepomis macrochirus*) (CA Natural Resources Agency 2010). Large floods can also result in long-term vegetation compositional shifts by removing much of the existing vegetation and allowing early seral or invasive species to pioneer the recently disturbed sites (Lambert et al. 2010). Some wetlands are sensitive to tamarisk (*Tamarix* spp.), which can spread and dominate areas in a relatively short amount of time (Reynolds & Cooper 2010).

## **Nutrient loading**

**Sensitivity:** Moderate-high (high confidence)

**Current exposure:** Moderate-high (high confidence)

**Pattern of exposure:** Localized to areas where wetlands are part of an agricultural landscape. For example, azola water fern invasions have been a problem due to nutrient

loading in various locations across the region.

Wetlands naturally have a lot of nutrients, which is beneficial, and wetlands also have the ability to accommodate incoming nutrients from runoff (CA Natural Resources Agency 2010). Excess nutrients, such as nitrogen and phosphorus, can increase algal production, decrease dissolved oxygen, and alter the species composition of wetland communities (Carpenter et al. 1998; Klose et al. 2012). Although natural levels of some of these nutrients are relatively high in some areas, additional concentrations can be delivered to wetlands via runoff from agricultural and urban activities (Carpenter et al. 1998). Agriculture is the primary source for nutrient loading in the Central Valley, but urban runoff from wastewater treatment plants, industrial sites, and fertilizer applications can also contribute significant additions (Carpenter et al. 1998; Klose et al. 2012). Excessive nutrient loading can also lead to increased invasive species abundance in some areas (Gerhardt & Collinge 2003).

#### Hunting

**Sensitivity:** Moderate (high confidence)

**Current exposure:** Moderate-high (high confidence) **Pattern of exposure:** Consistent across the landscape.

The majority of wetland habitat in the Central Valley is managed for hunting (Gilmer et al. 1982), and the funds for wetland protection and restoration are largely provided by the sale of Federal Migratory Bird Hunting and Conservation Stamps ("duck stamps"; Gilmer et al. 1982).

## Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Permanent Wetlands

Subsequently, many hunters support policies and management practices that benefit waterfowl and their wetland habitat (North American Waterfowl Management Plan 2012). In some cases, wetlands have been converted when hunting value declines (Gilmer et al. 1982). Across the United States, the number of waterfowl hunters has declined since the 1970s, despite more liberal hunting policies and rebounding waterfowl populations (North American Waterfowl Management Plan 2012).

## **Pollution & poisons**

**Sensitivity:** Low-moderate (low confidence)

**Current exposure:** Moderate-high (high confidence)

**Pattern of exposure:** Widespread, valley-wide, variety of different pollutants. In general, contaminants are a bigger issue in the Delta and north of the Delta. Mercury is more of a problem in the Delta and Sacramento Valley from gold mining. In the San Joaquin Valley, heavy metals and salts are coming in from pumped groundwater.

Important pollutions and poisons for permanent wetland habitats include mercury and other heavy metals, salts, and agricultural runoff (Domagalski et al. 2000). Pesticide and herbicide use on adjacent farmland may negatively impact wetland water and soil quality with potential impacts on humans (U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 2005). Roadway contaminants and mosquito-control pesticides can also impact wetlands and have negative effects on invertebrates and other organisms (U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 2005).

One of the most concerning toxic metals is mercury, which forms in anoxic sediment, especially surface sediment in wetland environments (Windham-Myers et al. 2014); the effects of mercury toxicity on wildlife can include physical, neurological, developmental, reproductive, and behavioral problems (Wolfe et al. 1998; Scheuhammer & Sandheinrich 2007). Wetlands actively managed for agriculture, such as rice, tend to have substantially higher concentrations of mercury – up to 95-fold higher than non-agricultural permanently-flooded and seasonally-flooded wetlands (Windham-Myers et al. 2014). The unique characteristics of agricultural wetlands — slow-moving shallow water, manipulated flooding and drying, abundant labile plant matter, and management for wildlife — also increase mercury exposure to local biota, as well as facilitating export to downstream habitats during uncontrolled winter-flow events (Windham-Myers et al. 2014). Mercury is going to be regulated as a pollutant and wetlands will be seen as a source of mercury going into the Delta, which poses a threat to wetlands because the focus will likely change from managing for wildlife to managing for mercury<sup>1</sup>.

## **Groundwater overdraft**

**Sensitivity:** Low-moderate (low confidence)

**Current exposure:** Low-moderate (high confidence)

**Pattern of exposure:** Localized; groundwater overdraft levels are highest in the San Joaquin Valley, and next highest in the Sacramento Valley; they are lowest in the California Delta/Suisan Marsh.

## Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Permanent Wetlands

Groundwater overdraft may strongly affect permanent wetlands in the San Joaquin Valley, but is likely to have little or no effect on permanent wetlands in the Sacramento Valley (Vulnerability Assessment Workshop, pers. comm., 2015).

## **Disturbance Regimes**

Workshop participants scored the resource's sensitivity to disturbance regimes, and these scores were used to calculate climate change sensitivity.

## **Overall sensitivity to disturbance regimes:** Moderate (high confidence)

The identified disturbance regimes (i.e., flooding, wind, wildfire) are highly managed, limiting the sensitivity of permanent wetlands<sup>1</sup>. Grazing acts as a disturbance regime in some foothill wetlands found in the foothills, typically impacting stock ponds, but doesn't usually affect the valley floor<sup>1</sup>.

## **Flooding**

Hydrological models predict larger and more frequent winter floods as rain-on-snow events and winter snowmelt become more common in headwaters (Hamlet & Lettenmaier 2007). Higher peak flows are likely to increase spring flooding (Jackson et al. 2011). Natural scouring from flooding and high peak flows can benefit permanent wetlands by resetting succession and allowing early successional plants to establish; however, changes to the magnitude and duration of flooding events are important factors in this process¹. Although natural scouring from high water flows used to have an important effect on wetlands, tractor disking as a habitat management technique has eliminated the need for scour¹. This practice resets succession, allowing early successional plants to succeed¹.

Wetlands in the Central Valley were historically fed by flooding during the winter, although flood mechanisms and timing differed by basin (Duffy & Kahara 2011). For instance, in the Sacramento Basin, wetlands were fed by flooding during winter precipitation, while in the San Joaquin Basin they were fed by flooding during snowmelt runoff (Duffy & Kahara 2011). Higher spring peak flows require larger releases of stored water from reservoirs in order to meet flood control requirements (Kiparsky & Gleick 2003; Anderson et al. 2008), which results in a net loss of spring runoff that is normally stored and decreases wetland water availability for the summer growing season and post-harvest flooding practices (Anderson et al. 2008).

Dams, levees, and bypasses control flow variability and essentially eliminate natural flood regimes (Central Valley Joint Venture 2006). Most wetlands now rely on managed water supplies for seasonal flooding (CA Natural Resources Agency 2010). Changes in water management to maintain reservoir storage and deliver water to municipal, agricultural, and industrial users can reduce flood magnitude and/or frequency, which could impact natural or unmanaged wetlands (Perry et al. 2012).

## Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Permanent Wetlands

#### Wildfire

Wildfire has been suppressed in the Central Valley and now is usually applied by managers via prescribed burning to reset succession in thick climax wetlands<sup>1</sup>.

Permanent wetlands can be very productive and tend to accumulate high levels of biomass and fuel loads (Van de Water & North 2011), which make them susceptible to high-severity fires (Olson & Agee 2005). Although fire regimes differ among wetland types due to differences in geomorphology, hydrology, vegetation, and microclimate (Dwire & Kauffman 2003), warmer temperatures may increase the susceptibility of some wetlands to drought and potentially more frequent fire (Bixby et al. 2015).

Changes in precipitation and soil moisture are also likely to affect wetland fire risk as some areas become drier and more susceptible to fire. However, seasonal wetland areas may be at a higher risk of drying and potentially burning compared to permanent areas.

#### Wind

Wind has a relatively minor negative impact on permanent wetlands<sup>1</sup>, although major windstorms can affect wetland soil, root growth, and vegetation survival over the long term (Wanless et al. 1994; Cahoon 2006).

Permanent wetlands are somewhat sensitive to extreme weather events, such as windstorms. These extreme weather events are naturally variable and therefore long-term historical records are sparse in riparian areas. Furthermore, future projections of extreme weather events are difficult to model (Toreti et al. 2013). Nevertheless, wind disturbances are geomorphologically and ecologically important because they can affect large areas (Yih et al. 1991) and effects on vegetation and soils may be permanent on an ecological time scale (Wanless et al. 1994). For instance, high magnitude wind disturbances can affect wetland soil (sediment deposition, and erosion), root growth, and vegetation survival (Cahoon 2006).

## Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Permanent Wetlands

## **Adaptive Capacity**

Workshop participants scored the resource's Adaptive Capacity and the overall score used to calculate climate change vulnerability.

Adaptive Capacity Component	Score
Extent, Integrity, & Continuity	Low-moderate
Landscape Permeability	Low-moderate
Resistance & Recovery	Moderate
Habitat Diversity	Moderate
Other Adaptive Capacity Factors	Low-moderate
Overall Score	Low-moderate

## **Extent, integrity, and continuity**

**Overall degree of habitat extent, integrity, and continuity:** Low-moderate (high confidence)

**Geographic extent of habitat:** Occurs across study region (high confidence) **Structural and functional integrity of habitat:** Altered but not degraded (high confidence)

**Continuity of habitat:** Isolated and/or quite fragmented (high confidence)

Historically, Central Valley wetlands covered an area of four million acres (in the 1850s), but much of this was lost by the mid-1980s when only 544,600 acres remained (Frayer et al. 1989). The Tulare Basin once contained the largest block of wetland habitat in the state, providing an area of over 500,000 acres (Central Valley Joint Venture 2006). However, due to agricultural production, freshwater wetland area has increased by about 30% from the mid-1980s (Frayer et al. 1989) to today. Currently, there are 26,322 acres of permanent and semi-permanent wetlands in the Central Valley; more than 90% of wetlands in the Central Valley are managed, two-thirds of which are in private ownership (Central Valley Joint Venture 2006). There are less permanent wetlands relative to seasonal wetlands in the San Joaquin Valley; only 5% of the historical extent of permanent wetlands remains (Gilmer et al. 1982).

## Landscape permeability

Overall landscape permeability: Low-moderate (high confidence)

Impact of various factors on landscape permeability:

Land use change: Moderate-high (high confidence)

**Agricultural & rangeland practices:** Moderate-high (high confidence)

## Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Permanent Wetlands

Population growth is projected to increase by 19-30% by 2025 in California (Public Policy Institute of California 2006). A larger population will increase the demand for agricultural production, water resources, and land to develop. These factors, combined with climate change, pose a major threat to wetlands. Warming temperatures, particularly during the summer, are expected to decrease the production of some agricultural products and put greater demands on California's electricity supply, which will indirectly affect the supply of water for wetland irrigation (OEHHA 2013).

Land use change can act as a landscape barrier. For example, if rice crops change to another crop, it would further reduce the connectivity between permanent wetlands. In particulr, shifts from rice to other crops could have negative impacts on some species of waterbirds (Elphick 2004). In fact, the presence of flooded fields can enhance the landscape connectivity and permeability for some wetland species (Frayer et al. 1989; Elphick 2000), and the associated canals may also provide wildlife corridors used by species such as the giant garter snake, which moves between wetlands, canals, and flooded cropland within their large home ranges (Huber et al. 2010; Wylie et al. 2010).

## **Resistance and recovery**

**Overall ability to resist and recover from stresses:** Moderate (moderate confidence) **Resistance to stresses/maladaptive human responses:** Low-moderate (moderate confidence)

**Ability to recover from stresses/maladaptive human response impacts:** Moderate-high (moderate confidence)

Similar to seasonal wetlands, permanent wetlands in the Central Valley are highly managed habitats and many are used primarily for agricultural production. Although agriculture in the Central Valley has been identified as being highly vulnerable, there is significant capacity to adapt (Jackson et al. 2011). For example, incentive programs for funding, technical assistance, and infrastructure can help private landowners to modify land use practices and restore native vegetation for conservation (Norton 2000; Langpap 2006). Examples of these habitat programs include the Natural Resources Conservation Service's (NRCS) Wetlands Reserve Program and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service's (USFWS) Partners for Fish and Wildlife Program, which restore, enhance, and protect habitat through voluntary easement agreements, as well as the California Department of Fish and Wildlife's (CDFW) California Waterfowl Habitat Program and its Landowner Incentive Program, which provide financial and technical support for habitat management (DiGaudio et al. 2015). Most permanent wetlands are under some kind of easement, refuge, or other protection (Central Valley Joint Venture 2006).

#### **Habitat diversity**

Overall habitat diversity: Moderate (high confidence)

Physical and topographical diversity of the habitat: Low (high confidence)

Diversity of component species within the habitat: Moderate (high confidence)

Diversity of functional groups within the habitat: High (high confidence)

Component species or functional groups particularly sensitive to climate change:

## Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Permanent Wetlands

- Fish
- Reptiles
- Tricolored blackbird (Agelaius tricolor)

#### **Keystone or foundational species within the habitat:**

Tule species

Although most wetlands have limited physical and topographical diversity, many are highly managed and water levels can be controlled to achieve particular management goals. For instance, actively managed wetlands have the potential to support more waterfowl than sites under low or intermediate management (Kahara et al. 2012). Hydrology is the most important determinant of wetland ecosystem function, creating more variable habitat that can support high levels of biodiversity and influencing the presence and abundance of wildlife (Kahara et al. 2012). Nevertheless, habitat availability is likely to be a significant limiting factor for waterfowl (Central Valley Joint Venture 2006), and has been associated with health, body condition, daily flight distances, and shifts in density and regional distribution in waterbirds (Fleskes et al. 2005; Ackerman et al. 2006; Hénaux et al. 2012).

#### **Other Factors**

**Overall degree to which other factors affect habitat adaptive capacity:** Low-moderate (low confidence)

Population growth
Safe Harbor Agreements
Diversion curtailments/instream flow requirements

#### **Population growth**

It is likely that climate factors will interact with increased demand from expanding urban populations, impacting wetland habitats indirectly through reduced water availability (Gilmer et al. 1982; Ackerman et al. 2006; Medellín-Azuara et al. 2007). Population growth is projected to increase by 19-30% by 2025 in California (Public Policy Institute of California 2006). A larger population will increase the demand for agricultural production, water resources, and land to develop. These factors, combined with climate change, will likely impact wetland habitats through loss of habitat and reduced water availability (Gilmer et al. 1982; Ackerman et al. 2006; Medellín-Azuara et al. 2007).

#### **Safe Harbor Agreements**

The presence of special status species on privately-owned lands can discourage conservation efforts due to the additional requirements that must be met to prevent "take" of a species protected by the Endangered Species Act (DiGaudio et al. 2015). Safe harbor agreements can promote restoration projects by allowing the incidental take of endangered species in exchange for habitat improvements that will benefit that species (Seavy et al. 2009; DiGaudio et al. 2015).

## Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Permanent Wetlands

#### Diversion curtailments/instream flow requirements

The Lower San Joaquin River can experience very low flow conditions, offering little to no flows in critically dry years. In response, the Central Valley Regional Water Quality Control Board has adopted a requirement for discharges from irrigated lands (Ortega 2009). During these situations, wetland managers are asked to modify their normal water management by draining wetlands to match their discharge and meet load allocations (Ortega 2009). However, it is not entirely clear how these changes may impact permanent wetlands.

In addition, instream flow requirements designed to enhance fish habitat are likely to further reduce water availability, especially during drought periods (Tanaka et al. 2006; Howitt et al. 2013; Reiter et al. 2015).

## **Management potential**

Workshop participants scored the resource's Management Potential.

Management Potential Component	Score
Habitat value	Moderate
Societal support	Moderate
Agriculture & rangeland practices	High
Extreme events	Moderate
Converting retired land	Low-moderate
Managing climate change impacts	Low-moderate
Overall Score	Moderate

**Overall management potential**: Moderate (high confidence)

## Value to people

**Value of habitat to people:** Moderate (high confidence)

**Description of value:** There is a no net loss policy for wetlands; overall, the benefits of wetlands are well-recognized although people tend to support wetland conservation when they do not have another use for the land. Permanent wetlands are valued less than flooded cropland and seasonal wetlands.

## **Support for conservation**

**Degree of societal support for managing and conserving habitat:** Moderate (moderate confidence)

## Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Permanent Wetlands

**Description of support:** Permanent wetlands have legislative, regulatory, and hunting support. This habitat does not have as much public support as seasonal wetlands or agriculture because it requires water year-round, which society sometimes wants for other uses.

Degree to which agriculture and/or rangelands can benefit/support/increase the resilience of this habitat: High (high confidence)

**Description of support:** Rice helps make permanent wetlands more resilient because it adds additional habitat area. Groundwater pumping for rice and other agricultural crops provides a source of water (although this cannot go on forever). Groundwater depletion can negatively impact permanent wetlands, but it is not currently widespread. Most wetlands are fed by surface water instead of groundwater, and are on top of clay hardpan.

Degree to which extreme events (e.g., flooding, drought) influence societal support for taking action:

**Frequent flooding:** Moderate-high (moderate confidence)

**Drought:** Low-moderate (high confidence)

**Description of events:** Frequent flooding may increase awareness of the importance of wetland ecosystem services (e.g., flood protection), while drought reduces support because water is needed for other uses.

## Likelihood of converting land to habitat

**Likelihood of (or support for) converting retired agriculture land to habitat:** Low-moderate (moderate confidence)

**Description of likelihood:** There are several programs (such as the federal farm bill) that provide incentives, but these programs could use more funding and currently do not compete well with other motivations for land use. There are few incentives to retire farmland, except when there is not enough water; only marginal farmland has been restored to habitat via these incentive programs. Commodity prices are at high levels right now, making restoration difficult and in some cases causing conversion of habitat to farmland.

**Likelihood of managing or alleviating climate change impacts on habitat:** Low-moderate (moderate confidence)

**Description of likelihood:** Society would have to prioritize wetland management over other uses of water. However, the possibility of being able to manage/alleviate the impacts of climate change are good because wetlands are highly managed. If society has the water and the will, wetlands can be buffered against the impacts of climate change.

Management objectives and techniques have evolved in the Central Valley over the last few decades, and there are now a number of incentive programs to support wetland restoration and enhancement (Ackerman et al. 2006; Central Valley Joint Venture 2006; North American Waterfowl Management Plan 2012). For instance, many agricultural lands in the Central Valley are enrolled in the USDA's Environmental Quality Incentives Program and receive technical

## Central Valley Landscape Conservation Project Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Permanent Wetlands

assistance through the Conservation Technical Assistance Program (Duffy & Kahara 2011). Similarly, the Wetlands Reserve Program (WRP) was created by the NRCS as part of the 1990 Farm Bill and is designed around conservation easements that compensate landowners for converting flood-prone farmland to wetland (Kahara et al. 2012). Since it began, this program has resulted in the restoration of about 29,000 hectares of wetlands in the Central Valley, with actively managed WRP wetlands supporting more waterfowl and special status species than sites under low or intermediate management (Kahara et al. 2012; DiGaudio et al. 2015).

Although many wetlands in the Central Valley have been converted or degraded, managed and unmanaged wetlands provide a number of important ecosystem services, such as groundwater recharge, flood storage, water quality abatement, and biodiversity support (Duffy & Kahara 2011). There is also a growing desire to restore Central Valley wetlands in light of climate change (Seavy et al. 2009). For instance, flooded rice fields can provide important wetland ecosystem services (Elphick & Oring 2003) and influence the distribution of waterfowl (Fleskes et al. 2005). Potential management activities include focusing on retaining water and actively managing vegetation by planting, burning, mowing, or disking, which has the potential to attract waterbirds for hunting (Kahara et al. 2012). In order to buffer against a late season shortage in stored water, operational changes can be put into place over the course of the year¹. Maintaining a mosaic of cover and more open habitat is important for the giant garter snake (*Thamnophis gigas*) and nesting habitat (Halstead et al. 2010).

## Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Permanent Wetlands

## **Literature Cited**

- Ackerman JT, Takekawa JY, Orthmeyer DL, Fleskes JP, Yee JL, Kruse KL. 2006. Spatial use by wintering greater white-fronted geese relative to a decade of habitat change in California's Central Valley. Journal of Wildlife Management **70**:965–976.
- Anderson J, Chung F, Anderson M, Brekke L, Easton D, Ejeta M, Peterson R, Snyder R. 2008. Progress on incorporating climate change into management of California's water resources. Climatic Change **87**:91–108.
- Bartolome JW, Allen-Diaz BH, Barry S, Ford LD, Hammond M, Hopkinson P, Ratcliff F, Spiegal S, White MD. 2014. Grazing for biodiversity in Californian Mediterranean grasslands. Rangelands **36**:36–43.
- CA Natural Resources Agency. 2010. State of the state's wetlands: 10 years of challenges and progress. California Natural Resources Agency, State of California, Sacramento, CA. Available from http://resources.ca.gov/docs/SOSW\_report\_with\_cover\_memo\_10182010.pdf (accessed May 20, 2016).
- Cahoon DR. 2006. A review of major storm impacts on coastal wetland elevations. Estuaries and Coasts **29**:889–898.
- Carpenter SR, Caraco NF, Correll DL, Howarth RW, Sharpley AN, Smith VH. 1998. Nonpoint pollution of surface waters with phosphorus and nitrogen. Ecological Applications **8**:559–568.
- Cayan, D., M. Tyree, D. Pierce, and T. Das. 2012. Climate Change and Sea Level Rise Scenarios for California Vulnerability and Adaptation Assessment. California Energy Commission. .
- Central Valley Joint Venture. 2006. Central Valley Joint Venture implementation plan conserving bird habitat. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Sacramento, CA. Available from http://www.centralvalleyjointventure.org/assets/pdf/CVJV\_fnl.pdf.
- Dettinger, M. 2011. Climate change, atmospheric rivers, and floods in California a multimodel analysis of storm frequency and magnitude changes. Journal of the American Water Resources Association 47:514–523.
- DiGaudio RT, Kreitinger KE, Hickey CM, Seavy NE, Gardali T. 2015. Private lands habitat programs benefit California's native birds. California Agriculture **69**:210–220.
- Domagalski JL, Knifong DL, Dileanis PD, Brown LR, May JT, Connor V, Alpers CN. 2000. Water quality in the Sacramento River Basin, California, 1994–98. Page 36. U.S. Geological Survey Circular 1215. U.S. Geological Survey, Sacramento, CA.
- Duffy WG, Kahara SN. 2011. Wetland ecosystem services in California's Central Valley and implications for the Wetland Reserve Program. Ecological Applications **21**:S18–S30.
- Eheart JW, Tornil DW. 1999. Low-flow frequency exacerbation by irrigation withdrawals in the agricultural Midwest under various climate change scenarios. Pages 1–6 in E. M. Wilson, editor. WRPMD'99: preparing for the 21st century. American Society of Civil Engineers, Tempe, AZ. Available from http://dx.doi.org/10.1061/40430(1999)252 (accessed May 2, 2016).
- Elphick CS. 2000. Functional equivalency between rice fields and seminatural wetland habitats. Conservation Biology **14**:181–191.
- Elphick CS, Oring LW. 2003. Conservation implications of flooding rice fields on winter waterbird communities. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment **94**:17–29.
- Fleskes JP, Perry WM, Petrik KL, Spell R, Reid F. 2005. Change in area of winter-flooded and dry rice in the northern Central Valley of California determined by satellite imagery. California Fish and Game **91**:9.
- Frayer DE, Peters DD, Pywell HR. 1989. Wetlands of the California Central Valley: status and trends 1939 to mid-1980s. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Region 1, Portland, OR.

## Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Permanent Wetlands

- Gerhardt F, Collinge SK. 2003. Exotic plant invasions of vernal pools in the Central Valley of California, USA. Journal of Biogeography **30**:1043–1052.
- Gilmer D, Miller M, Bauer R, LeDonne J. 1982. California's Central Valley wintering waterfowl: concerns and challenges. US Fish & Wildlife Publications. Available from http://digitalcommons.unl.edu/usfwspubs/41.
- Halstead BJ, Wylie GD, Casazza ML. 2010. Habitat suitability and conservation of the giant gartersnake (Thamnophis gigas) in the Sacramento Valley of California. Copeia **2010**:591–599.
- Hamlet AF, Lettenmaier DP. 2007. Effects of 20th century warming and climate variability on flood risk in the western U.S. Water Resources Research **43**:W06427.
- Hénaux V, Samuel MD, Dusek RJ, Fleskes JP, Ip HS. 2012. Presence of avian influenza viruses in waterfowl and wetlands during summer 2010 in California: are resident birds a potential reservoir? PLoS ONE **7**:e31471.
- Howitt RE, MacEwan D, Garnache C, Medellín-Azuara J, Marchand P, Brown D, Six J, Lee J. 2013.

  Agricultural and economic impacts of Yolo Bypass fish habitat proposals. University of California,

  Davis
- Huber PR, Greco SE, Thorne JH. 2010. Spatial scale effects on conservation network design: trade-offs and omissions in regional versus local scale planning. Landscape Ecology **25**:683–695.
- Hunsaker CT, Long JW, Herbst DB, Long JW, Quinn-Davidson L, Skinner CN. 2014. Watershed and stream ecosystems. Pages 265–322. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Research Station, Albany, CA. Available from http://www.fs.fed.us/psw/publications/documents/psw\_gtr247/.
- Jackson LE et al. 2011. Case study on potential agricultural responses to climate change in a California landscape. Climatic Change **109**:407–427.
- Kahara SN, Duffy WG, DiGaudio R, Records R. 2012. Climate, management and habitat associations of avian fauna in restored wetlands of California's Central Valley, USA. Diversity **4**:396–418.
- Kiparsky M, Gleick PH. 2003. Climate change and California water resources: A survey and summary of the literature. Pacific Institute for Studies in Development, Environment, and Security, Oakland, CA
- Klose K, Cooper SD, Leydecker AD, Kreitler J. 2012. Relationships among catchment land use and concentrations of nutrients, algae, and dissolved oxygen in a southern California river. Freshwater Science **31**:908–927.
- Knowles N, Cayan DR. 2002. Potential effects of global warming on the Sacramento/San Joaquin watershed and the San Francisco estuary. Geophysical Research Letters **29**:1891.
- Lambert AM, D'Antonio CM, Dudley TL. 2010. Invasive species and fire in California ecosystems. Fremontia **38**:38.
- Langpap C. 2006. Conservation of endangered species: can incentives work for private landowners? Ecological Economics **57**:558–572.
- McCabe GJ, Clark MP. 2005. Trends and variability in snowmelt runoff in the western United States. Journal of Hydrometeorology **6**:476–482.
- Medellín-Azuara J, Harou JJ, Olivares MA, Madani K, Lund JR, Howitt RE, Tanaka SK, Jenkins MW, Zhu T. 2007. Adaptability and adaptations of California's water supply system to dry climate warming. Climatic Change **87**:75–90.
- Meyers EM, Dobrowski B, Tague CL. 2010. Climate change impacts on flood frequency, intensity, and timing may affect trout species in Sagehen Creek, California. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society **139**:1657–1664.
- Moss RC, Blumenshine SC, Yee J, Fleskes JP. 2009. Emergent insect production in post-harvest flooded agricultural fields used by waterbirds. Wetlands **29**:875–883.

## Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Permanent Wetlands

- Nakano S, Miyasaka H, Kuhara N. 1999. Terrestrial—aquatic linkages: riparian arthropod inputs alter trophic cascades in a stream food web. Ecology **80**:2435—2441.
- Naylor LW. 2002. Evaluating moist-soil seed production and management in Central Valley wetlands to determine habitat needs for waterfowl. Master of Science. University of California Davis. Available from http://www.centralvalleyjointventure.org/assets/pdf/Naylor\_Final\_Thesis.pdf (accessed March 7, 2016).
- North American Waterfowl Management Plan. 2012. North American waterfowl management plan: people conserving waterfowl and wetlands. Canadian Wildlife Service, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Secretaria de Medio Ambiente y Recursos Naturales. Available from http://nawmprevision.org.
- Norton DA. 2000. Conservation biology and private land: shifting the focus. Conservation Biology **14**:1221–1223.
- Null SE, Viers JH, Deas ML, Tanaka SK, Mount JF. 2013. Stream temperature sensitivity to climate warming in California's Sierra Nevada: impacts to coldwater habitat. Climatic Change **116**:149–170
- OEHHA. 2013. Indicators of climate change in California. Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, California Environmental Protection Agency, Sacramento, CA. Available from http://www.oehha.ca.gov/multimedia/epic/2013EnvIndicatorReport.html.
- Ortega R. 2009. Swamp Timothy production response to a modified hydrology in wetlands of the grassland ecological area. University of California Davis. Available from http://gradworks.umi.com/14/70/1470254.html (accessed March 7, 2016).
- Perry LG, Andersen DC, Reynolds LV, Nelson SM, Shafroth PB. 2012. Vulnerability of riparian ecosystems to elevated CO₂ and climate change in arid and semiarid western North America. Global Change Biology 18:821–842.
- Poff NL, Zimmerman JKH. 2010. Ecological responses to altered flow regimes: a literature review to inform the science and management of environmental flows. Freshwater Biology **55**:194–205.
- Public Policy Institute of California. 2006. California's future population. Public Policy Institute of California, San Francisco, CA. Available from http://www.ppic.org/content/pubs/jtf/JTF\_FuturePopulationJTF.pdfi.
- Regonda SK, Rajagopalan B, Clark M, Pitlick J. 2005. Seasonal cycle shifts in hydroclimatology over the western United States. Journal of Climate **18**:372–384.
- Reiter ME, Elliott N, Veloz S, Jongsomjit D, Hickey CM, Merrifield M, Reynolds MD. 2015. Spatiotemporal patterns of open surface water in the Central Valley of California 2000-2011: drought, land cover, and waterbirds. JAWRA Journal of the American Water Resources Association **51**:1722–1738.
- Reynolds LV, Cooper DJ. 2010. Environmental tolerance of an invasive riparian tree and its potential for continued spread in the southwestern US. Journal of Vegetation Science **21**:733–743.
- Scanlon BR, Faunt CC, Longuevergne L, Reedy RC, Alley WM, McGuire VL, McMahon PB. 2012.

  Groundwater depletion and sustainability of irrigation in the US High Plains and Central Valley.

  Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 109:9320–9325.
- Scheuhammer AM, Sandheinrich MB. 2007. Recent advances in the toxicology of methylmercury in wildlife. Ecotoxicology **17**:67–68.
- Seavy NE, Gardali T, Golet GH, Griggs FT, Howell CA, Kelsey R, Small SL, Viers JH, Weigand JF. 2009. Why climate change makes riparian restoration more important than ever: recommendations for practice and research. Ecological Restoration **27**:330–338.
- Stromberg JC, Lite SJ, Dixon MD. 2010. Effects of stream flow patterns on riparian vegetation of a semiarid river: implications for a changing climate. River Research and Applications **26**:712–729.

## Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Permanent Wetlands

- Tanaka SK, Zhu T, Lund JR, Howitt RE, Jenkins MW, Pulido MA, Tauber M, Ritzema RS, Ferreira IC. 2006. Climate warming and water management adaptation for California. Climatic Change **76**:361–387.
- Thorne JH, Boynton RM, Holguin AJ, Stewart JAE, Bjorkman J. 2016. A climate change vulnerability assessment of California's terrestrial vegetation. California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW), Sacramento, CA. Available from https://nrm.dfg.ca.gov/FileHandler.ashx?DocumentID=116208&inline.
- Toreti A, Naveau P, Zampieri M, Schindler A, Scoccimarro E, Xoplaki E, Dijkstra HA, Gualdi S, Luterbacher J. 2013. Projections of global changes in precipitation extremes from Coupled Model Intercomparison Project Phase 5 models. Geophysical Research Letters **40**:4887–4892.
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 2005. Recovery plan for vernal pool ecosystems of California and southern Oregon. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Region 1, Portland, OR. Available from http://www.fws.gov/sacramento/ES/Recovery-Planning/Vernal-Pool/es\_recovery\_vernal-pool-recovery.htm.
- Wanless HR, Parkinson RW, Tedesco LP. 1994. Sea level control on stability of Everglades wetlands. Pages 199–223 in S. Davis and J. C. Ogden, editors. Everglades: the ecosystem and its restoration. St. Lucie Press, Boca Raton, Florida.
- Windham-Myers L et al. 2014. Mercury cycling in agricultural and managed wetlands: A synthesis of methylmercury production, hydrologic export, and bioaccumulation from an integrated field study. Science of The Total Environment **484**:221–231.
- Wolfe ME, Schwarzbach S, Sulaiman RA. 1998. Effects of mercury on wildlife: A comprehensive review. Environmental Toxicology And Chemistry **17**:146–160.
- Wylie GD, Casazza ML, Gregory CJ, Halstead BJ. 2010. Abundance and sexual size dimorphism of the giant gartersnake (Thamnophis gigas) in the Sacramento Valley of California. Journal of Herpetology **44**:94–103.
- Yarnell SM, Viers JH, Mount JF. 2010. Ecology and management of the spring snowmelt recession. BioScience **60**:114–127.
- Yih K, Boucher DH, Vandermeer JH, Zamora N. 1991. Recovery of the Rain Forest of Southeastern Nicaragua After Destruction by Hurrican Joan. Biotropica **23**:106–113.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Expert opinion, Central Valley Landscape Conservation Project Vulnerability Assessment